STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Berkeley County

Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge
—————

JOSEPH RUSSELL UMPHLETT,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001539
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

W. CHANDLER NORVILLE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Sep 23 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's unconstitutionally deficient failure to preserve a motion to suppress for appellate review?

STATEMENT

At the October 7, 2014, term of the Berkely County grand jury, Petitioner was indicted for trafficking methamphetamine, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a weapon by a convicted felon. App. 1033-38. His case was called to trial on September 28, 2015, before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. App. 1. Grover Seaton represented Petitioner. App. 2. Jessica Nickles and Wilton McNeely represented the state. App. 2.

Facts

On May 12, 2014, Officers Williams, Henderson, and Oswald with the Summerville Police Department responded to the Economy Inn in Summerville. App. 52, 82. The police received an anonymous¹ call requesting a welfare check for children that apparently lived in the hotel room with Petitioner and his girlfriend, Kory Abdon. App. 159. The caller informed the 9-1-1 dispatcher that Petitioner and Abdon kept narcotics in the room around the children. App. 153. Despite Petitioner informing the officers no children were present, the officers told Petitioner to open the door, and Petitioner did so. App. 52-54. The officers smelled marijuana when the door opened. App. 53. Once the door opened, the officers, without permission, went into the room to look for children. App. 54. Thereafter, they also asked for permission to search the room, which Petitioner refused, except for allowing them to collect a small amount of marijuana from the nightstand. App. 53. Twenty minutes after officers originally entered Petitioner's hotel room, they called another officer to obtain a search warrant to search the room. App. 85. The probable cause for this search warrant was the odor of marijuana. App. 1039-44.

¹ The call was placed by Abdon's mother; however, this fact was not known to the officers who responded to the hotel room, so the caller is referred to as anonymous here, since that is the understanding the police would have operated under. App. 163.

During the resultant search, the officers found two firearms and a total of 193.71 grams of methamphetamine. App. 669-673; 766. Petitioner gave a statement to law enforcement where he claimed all illegal items in the room to have been his own. App. 126.

Petitioner's Trial

Before trial, Petitioner made two motions to suppress evidence. The first was a *Jackson v. Denno*² hearing regarding statements that Petitioner made to law enforcement. App. 50. Those statements were found to be admissible, and the Court of Appeals affirmed that decision on direct appeal. App. 147; 922.

Petitioner also moved to suppress the fruits of the search of the hotel room. App. 148. After hearing evidence, the trial court denied the motion to suppress. App. 183. It found that the police had a duty to investigate every child welfare call and that the search had been made pursuant to a valid search warrant that was supported by probable cause. App. 183.

The evidence was admitted against Petitioner at trial, and Petitioner was convicted on all three counts. App. 852. Judge Harrington sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment for trafficking pursuant to the recidivist statute, and five years for each of the two gun charges, all to run concurrently. App. 859-60.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction. App. 920. As to Petitioner's motion to suppress evidence from the search of the hotel room, the Court of Appeals held that Petitioner's trial counsel had failed to contemporaneously object when the challenged evidence was entered at trial. App. 921. The Court held the issue was not preserved for appellate review and did not address the merits of the argument. App. 921.

Petitioner did not seek certiorari review from this Court.

² 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

Post Conviction Relief Proceedings

Petitioner timely filed the present application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on October 16, 2018. App. 931. In his application, he alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve the suppression issue for appeal. App. 926. On April 17, 2023, the Honorable R. Kirk Griffin held a hearing on the Petition. App. 945. Michael D. Moore represented Petitioner. App. 945. Danielle E. Dixon represented the state. App. 945. During the hearing, trial counsel candidly testified that he felt as though he was ineffective for failing to preserve the suppression issue. App. 987.

The PCR court dismissed the petition with prejudice. App. 1020. As to trial counsel's failure to preserve the suppression issue, the PCR court agreed that his failure to do so constituted deficient performance. App. 1024. However, the PCR court found that Petitioner was not prejudiced by this failure. App. 1024. It found that the child welfare check constituted an "implicit license" to approach a home, and once the officers smelled marijuana, they were justified in entering in the room, detaining everyone inside, and securing the room while awaiting a search warrant. App. 1025. Therefore, according to the PCR court, Petitioner was unlikely to prevail on appeal and was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to preserve the issue for appeal. App. 1024.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in holding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to preserve a suppression issue for appellate review.

The drugs found in Petitioner's hotel room were the fruits of an unlawful search, and Petitioner was likely to prevail on appeal.

To prevail on a PCR action for ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must establish both that his trial counsel was deficient, and that deficiency prejudiced him. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). A petitioner is prejudiced when "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Smith v. State*, 386 S.C. 562, 566, 698 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2010). When the deficiency alleged is the failure to preserve an issue for appeal, the PCR court essentially transforms into an appellate court and must determine prejudice by determining whether the petitioner was likely to succeed on appeal, using the same standard of review as an appellate court would have. *Milledge v. State*, 422 S.C. 366, 380, 811 S.E.2d 796, 804 (2018).

A. Trial counsel was deficient.

At the outset, the PCR court was correct in holding that trial counsel was deficient in failing to renew his pre-trial motion objection at trial. The PCR court must "determine whether counsel was ineffective at the time of the alleged error." *Pantovich v. State*, 427 S.C. 555, 562-63, 832 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2019). Essentially, the question here is whether trial counsel "should have known to object." *Chappell v. State*, 429 S.C. 68, 80, 837 S.E.2d 496, 502 (Ct. App. 2019). Trial counsel failed to make the required contemporaneous objection to preserve the issue. *See*

State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 526, 608 S.E.2d 435, 439 (Ct. App. 2004).³ Trial counsel candidly admitted that he was deficient in this regard. App. 987.

The PCR court correctly concluded that trial counsel was deficient. App. 1024.

B. Petitioner would have prevailed on appeal.

Both the United States and South Carolina Constitutions prohibit “unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. VI; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. The South Carolina Constitution also safeguards against “unreasonable invasions of privacy,” which has been recognized to provide broader protections than the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Counts*, 413 S.C. 153, 168, 776 S.E.2d 59, 68 (2015). Generally, any search made without a judicially issued search warrant is *per se* unreasonable, subject only to a few exceptions. *Minnesota v. Dickerson*, 508 U.S. 366, 372 (1993). When the state relies on a warrantless search, it is the state’s burden to justify its search on one of the exceptions to the warrant requirement. *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 455 (1971).

Whether a warrantless entry into a hotel room was “reasonable” is typically governed by the same standard as entries into the home. *See, e.g., Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 574, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3-4 (2012) (“The Fourth Amendment generally protects a motel guest from unwarranted intrusions where police have entered a guest’s room under no other authority than the consent of an employee” (citing *Stoner v. California*, 376 U.S. 483, 490 (1964)); *United States v. Jeffers*, 342 U.S. 48, 52 (1951) (explaining when warrantless entry into hotel room would be lawful; similar standard to exigent circumstances); *cf. also, Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452 (2011) (discussing Fourth Amendment rules with regard to apartment complex).

³ While a contemporaneous objection is no longer required after a final, pretrial ruling on an issue of constitutional law, it was required at the time of Petitioner’s trial. *See State v. Jones*, 435 S.C. 138, 144-45, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021).

Child welfare checks, like the one that led the police to Petitioner’s door, fall within what has been described as the “community caretaking” function of police officers. Courts have several times recognized that police officers often engage in tasks that are not necessarily related to criminal investigations or law enforcement. *See generally, e.g., Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433 (1973). However, “this recognition...was just that—a recognition that these tasks exist.” *Caniglia v. Strom*, 593 U.S. 194, 199 (2021). It is “not an open-ended license to perform them anywhere.” *Id.* Therefore, when police officers approach a dwelling, even for non-criminal justice purposes, the Constitution confines them into certain parameters.

For example, police officers may approach homes and knock on doors, because “that is no more than any private citizen might do.” *Florida v. Jardines*, 569 U.S. 1, 8 (2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). However, this approach must be limited to “approach[ing] the home by the front path, knock[ing] promptly,” and “wait[ing] briefly to be received.” *Id.* After that, “absent invitation to linger longer,” the officers should “leave.” *Id.* Police, like the general public, have an “implied license” to do whatever a private person, such as a “Girl Scout or trick-or-treater,” might do, but not more. *Id.* at 8-9. And since “no man can set his foot upon his neighbour’s close without his leave,” *id.* at 8 (quoting *Entick v. Carrington*, 95 Eng. Rep. 807, 817 (K.B. 1765)), the police may not, without a warrant, intrude onto property without a warrant in a manner that was not authorized by the occupant. *Id.*; *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 173, 776 S.E.2d at 70 (police need reasonable suspicion to approach a home and knock on the door in the first place).

Caniglia is instructive here. In that case, Caniglia pulled out a firearm and put it on the table in front of his wife during an argument, asking her to “shoot [him] now and get it over with. 593 U.S. at 196 (alteration in original). She left the home, and when she could not reach

Caniglia the next day, she called the police for a welfare check. *Id.* The police, deciding that he posed a risk to himself or others, entered his home without a warrant and seized two handguns. *Id.* at 196-97. Caniglia's resultant lawsuit against the police was unsuccessful in the trial and intermediate appellate courts due to those courts reading a "community caretaking exception" to the Fourth Amendment based on the Supreme Court's decision in *Cady*. *Id.* at 197.

The Supreme Court reversed. *Id.* It held that the "community caretaking exception" recognized in *Cady* was not an exception at all, but rather, a mere recognition that police often do more than investigate crimes. *Id.* at 198-99. Further, *Cady* involved the search of a vehicle, not a home, the latter of which is subject to far greater Fourth Amendment protection. *Id.* at 199; *see generally, Carroll v. United States*, 267 U.S. 132 (1925). The difference is that "the 'frequency with which...vehicle[s] can become disabled or involved in...accidents on public highways' often requires police to perform noncriminal 'community caretaking functions,' such as providing aid to motorists." *Id.* (quoting *Cady*, 413 U.S. at 441). Homes do not come with the same built-in rationales for abandoning the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement. *Id.* Logically, neither should hotel rooms. *Cf., Johnson v. United States*, 333 U.S. 10, 15 (1948) (refusing to draw Fourth Amendment exception for search of a hotel room because, *inter alia*, there were no exceptional circumstances warranting it. "The search was of *permanent premises*, not of a movable vehicle" (emphasis added)).

Here, every officer that approached Petitioner's hotel room was aware that the anonymous 9-1-1 caller had made allegations that narcotics would be found in the room. When the officers arrived, Petitioner told them that there were no children on the premises. They ordered him to open the door anyway. After Petitioner opened the door, the officers smelled marijuana and made their way into the hotel room.

This police action is far afield of what “a private citizen might have the authority to do if [the 911 caller] had approached a neighbor for assistance instead of the police.” *Caniglia*, 593 U.S. at 198. For one, the “knock and talk” procedure employed here, when conducted by uniformed police officers, is already “inherently coercive” in a way that it is not when conducted by a private person. *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 70. Secondly, it would certainly come as a great surprise to homeowners across the state if any private person could approach their front door, knock for several minutes, demand to see their children, and refuse to leave until the door is opened. Such behavior by a private person “would inspire most of us to—well, call the police.” *Jardines*, 569 U.S. at 9.⁴

“The scope of a license...is limited not only to a particular area but also to a specific purpose.” *Id.* The purpose of the officer’s intrusion into Petitioner’s hotel room was to check on his girlfriend’s children, based on anonymous reports of criminal activity. This is not a “purpose” that any private citizen would be authorized to undertake. Nor is it a purpose “totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute.” *Cady*, 413 U.S. at 441.⁵ Rather, the police officers’ behavior here, commanding

⁴ *Jardines* did not involve a child welfare search. However, it is still analogous to this case. The police in *Jardines* had received an anonymous, unverified tip that marijuana was being grown in the home at issue in that case. 569 U.S. at 3. They then approached the home with a drug sniffing dog. *Id.* at 4. Here, the primary reason for the police responding to the hotel room could not have been to simply check in on Abdon’s children; it was because of the allegation that the children were around narcotics.

⁵ It should be noted that the *Counts* Court suggested in *dicta* that welfare checks are held to a lesser standard than investigative knock and talks, which must be supported by reasonable suspicion. *Counts*, 413 S.C. at 174 n.7, 776 S.E.2d at 71 n.7. This *dictum* is not relevant to this case. The *Counts* Court suggested that, in the event of a welfare check, the police were authorized to follow the Supreme Court’s procedure in *Jardines*, which, for the reasons stated above, was not done here. *See id.*

Petitioner to open the door and then immediately seizing both occupants of the hotel room, “objectively reveals a purpose to conduct a search.” *Jardines*, 569 U.S. at 10.

If a private citizen approached Petitioner’s hotel room with the purpose of ‘checking on his kids,’ Petitioner’s response that the kids were not present would have ended the matter. That private citizen would have had no authority to order Petitioner to open the door or demand that he answer questions. He simply would have had to do what the officers here *should have* done: called Abdon’s mother—who Petitioner told the officers was watching the children—to confirm the children’s location.⁶ By not doing so, the officers took advantage of the inherently coercive nature of knock and talk procedures and exceeded their implied license to approach Petitioner’s door. In this way, they exceeded the authority granted to them by the Fourth Amendment, and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. Thus, the entry into, and subsequent search of Petitioner’s hotel room was unlawful.

Because the trial court was wrong to refuse to suppress the fruits of the search of Petitioner’s hotel room, the PCR court was wrong to hold that Petitioner would have been unlikely to prevail on appeal. This Court should grant certiorari and reverse.

⁶ The officers could have, and should have, sought judicial authorization of *some kind* before entering Petitioner’s hotel room. *Cf.*, *Caniglia*, 593 U.S. at 203 (Alito, J., concurring) (states may create procedures for the issuance of non-criminal warrants to permit entry into homes). The touchstone inquiry is whether the search of Petitioner’s hotel room was reasonable. The officers, knowing that they may well end up making a drug arrest, still ordered Petitioner to open the door after repeated assurances that no children were present. This would have been the time to step back and obtain a search warrant.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant certiorari to allow for fuller briefing of the above issues.



W. Chandler Norville
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER