RECEIVED

Jan 30 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001539

JOSEPH RUSSELL UMPHLETT,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KYLEE KANEALEY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 107060

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-4103

QUESTION PRESENTED

Petitioner's Question

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's unconstitutionally deficient failure to preserve a motion to suppress for appellate review?

Respondent's Counterstatement of Question

Whether the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish prejudice when there is not a reasonable probability Petitioner would have been successful on appeal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2014, Petitioner Joseph Russell Umphlett was indicted by the Berkeley County Grand Jury for trafficking methamphetamine, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (2014-GS-08-01525;-01526;-01528). On September 28, 2015, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington. Grover Seaton, Esquire, represented Petitioner. Assistant Solicitors Jessica Nickles and Wilton McNeely represented the State. The jury convicted Petitioner as indicted, and Judge Harrington sentenced him to life pursuant to the recidivist statute.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, which was perfected by Appellate Defender John Harrison Strom. On appeal, Petitioner argued the trial court erred in (1) denying his motion to suppress and (2) admitting his verbal statements and written confession to law enforcement. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction on May 24, 2017. State v. Umphlett, Op. No. 2017-UP-386 (filed Oct. 18, 2017). The remittitur was returned on November 3, 2017.

On October 16, 2018, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. On April 17, 2023, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable R. Kirk Griffin. Michael D. Moore, Esquire, represented Petitioner. Assistant Attorney General Danielle Dixon represented Respondent. In an order filed July 24, 2025, Judge Griffin denied relief and dismissed the application.

On August 1, 2025, Petitioner filed a timely notice of intent to appeal. On September 23, 2025, Petitioner filed his Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

This Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Officers were dispatched to the Economy Inn motel in order to conduct a welfare check regarding children staying at the hotel, after a call to dispatch from the children's grandmother. (App. 52, 82, 237). The grandmother called because she was "very worried, very concerned" about the grandchildren living in the conditions they were in at the motel. (App. 233, 235). The report also indicated possible drug activity going on in the hotel room where the children were suspected of staying. (App. 324).

Officer Williams, Corporal Henderson, and Officer Oswald responded to the location. (App. 52, 81-82). Officer Williams knocked on the door, and after a period of time, Petitioner responded through the window. (App. 330). Officer Williams asked the occupants to open the door, and they did so. (App. 52-53, 83, 331). Immediately upon opening the door, the officers smelled marijuana. (App. 53, 83). Officer Williams requested consent to search, which was denied, except that Petitioner agreed the officers could get the marijuana from the nightstand. (App. 53, 83). Thereafter, Petitioner was read his Miranda¹ rights prior to any statements being taken. (App. 54, 84, 89).

The officers conducted a quick search and protective sweep of the hotel room. They were looking for the children as well as securing the scene. (App. 335-336). After further discussion with Petitioner, the officers obtained a search warrant for the hotel room. (Trial Court Exhibit 1; App. 1039). The search yielded roughly 7 ounces or 193.71 grams of methamphetamine. (App. 766).

Sergeant Thompson arrived after the other officers and met with Officer Williams. He indicated he met with Officer Williams about three doors down from Petitioner and Petitioner's

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

girlfriend's hotel room. Even at that location, he could smell the marijuana from the hotel room. (App. 106). Sergeant Thompson then met with Petitioner. Petitioner admitted he had been read his Miranda warnings. (App. 108-109, 112). After speaking with Petitioner, Sergeant Thompson had Petitioner give a written statement. (App. 115-117). In his statement, Petitioner admitted there were 7 ounces of methamphetamine, several grams of marijuana, a drug called Molly, a couple of ecstasy pills, and a couple of firearms present in the hotel room. (App. 115-117).² His statement is consistent with the findings from the analysis of the items seized during the execution of the search warrant. He further admits in his statement that all of the evidence found was his. (App. 126). Petitioner's girlfriend acknowledged she only knew about the marijuana and one handgun, and not the remaining drugs or other items. (App. 549).

² Petitioner's Statement was admitted at trial as State's Exhibit 60. This is not part of the Appendix.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before the court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). The burden is on the petitioner to prove the allegations in the PCR application. Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 302, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998). Appellate courts will defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if evidence in the record supports the findings of fact. Id. Appellate courts review questions of law de novo with no deference to the conclusions of the PCR court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the PCR court when such a decision is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish prejudice because there is not a reasonable probability Petitioner would have been successful on appeal.

On appeal, Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred in not finding Counsel's representation constitutionally ineffective for failing to preserve a suppression issue for appellate review. However, as the post-conviction relief court properly found, Applicant failed to prove prejudice. The PCR court properly found there was evidence in the record to support the trial court's ruling that probable cause existed for the search and subsequent seizure of the evidence, and therefore, it is not reasonably probable this issue would have been reversed on appeal had it been preserved.

A trial court's Fourth Amendment suppression ruling must be affirmed if supported by any evidence, and an appellate court may reverse only when there is clear error. State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 108, 736 S.E.2d 663, 665 (2013) (citing State v. Groome, 378 S.C. 615, 618, 664 S.E.2d 460, 461 (2008); see also, State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 349, 592, 357 S.C. 344, 349, 592 S.E.2d 344, 347 (Ct. App. 2004) ("On appeal from a suppression hearing, this court is bound by the circuit court's factual findings if any evidence supports the findings."). The appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

It is the "basic rule that 'searches conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment— subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.'" Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009) (quoting Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967)). However, because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is "reasonableness," the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 210, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009).

South Carolina courts have recognized several exceptions to the warrant requirement, including: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest; (2) "hot pursuit"; (3) stop and frisk; (4) the automobile exception; (5) the "plain view" doctrine; and (6) consent. State v. Bailey, 276 S.C. 32, 36, 274 S.E.2d 913, 915 (1981). Additionally, exigent circumstances can justify a warrantless search of a home that would otherwise be unreasonable. Herring, 387 S.C. at 209, 692 S.E.2d at 494.

First, officers may attempt to contact an individual in a hotel room or any residence to conduct a welfare check. This Court recently upheld the validity of law enforcement's conduct of a welfare check. See State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 174 n.7, 776 S.E.2d 59, 71 n.7 (2015) ("In the instance of a 'welfare check,' the implicit license to approach a home as referenced in Florida v. Jardines, [569] U.S. [1], 133 S.Ct. 1409, 185 L.Ed.2d 495 (2013) is applicable.").

In the present case, the officers testified they went to the hotel room to conduct a child-welfare check. (App. 52, 82, 237). The officers, therefore, had an implicit license to approach the hotel room.³ Once Petitioner opened the door, officers immediately smelled marijuana. (App. 53, 83, 106). Therefore, the officers had the requisite probable cause to obtain the search warrant. The smell of marijuana provided the requisite probable cause to obtain the search warrant in this case. See State v. Lane, 271 S.C. 68, 72, 245 S.E. 2d 114, 1 16 (1978) ("From the record it is evident that the odor emanating from the packages alone was a sufficient basis to establish probable cause as to their contents when it is considered that an officer of the law, familiar with the odor of marijuana, believed the odor being emitted was that of marijuana.").

Moreover, once the officers observed the smell of marijuana coming from the hotel room, the officers were justified under the circumstances in entering the hotel room, locating and

³ Further, Petitioner omits the key fact that the officers were able to see children's clothing and toys. (App. 334).

detaining the occupants, and securing the premises to prevent the destruction of evidence and to ensure there were no hidden threats to the officers' or the public's safety. See United States v. Cephas, 254 F.3d 488, 496 (4th Cir. 2001) (ruling an officer's warrantless entry into an apartment was justified by exigent circumstances, namely the prevention of the destruction of evidence, after he smelled the odor of marijuana coming from the apartment); United States v. Grissett, 925 F.2d 776, 778 (4th Cir. 1991) (finding exigent circumstances justified the warrantless entry of a motel room after officers smelled the odor of marijuana through the open motel room door).

It is apparent that the actions of law enforcement did not constitute an unreasonable search and seizure, as both the trial court and the PCR court found. As the PCR court properly found, there was evidence in the record to support the trial court's ruling that probable cause existed for the search and subsequent seizure of the evidence, and therefore, it is not reasonably probable this issue would have been reversed on appeal had it been preserved.

Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving prejudice, and the Court should deny certiorari to this issue.

[Conclusion and signature block on following page]

CONCLUSION


Based on the foregoing, the PCR court correctly determined that Petitioner failed to show that trial counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance. Therefore, this Court should deny Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KYLEE KANEALEY
Assistant Attorney General